1997

Louise A. Drazich v. Alan Lasson, Mary D. White, and Darrell L. White : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT:

In this brief "T" refers to the transcript of the proceedings from the trial. There are two volumes and "T" alone refers to volume one and the second is referred to by "T" and the date of the hearing. "R" refers to the record of the court, and "Ex" refers to exhibit, followed by the exhibit number.

By stipulation the claims against the defendants named White were resolved and the claim against them was dismissed.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION:

This court has jurisdiction to hear this case pursuant to the provisions of 78-2a-3, Utah Code Annotated, Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Sections 3 and 5, Article VIII of

the Utah Constitution.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARDS FOR REVIEW:

ISSUE ONE

IN THE INDENTURE TO THE D. & R. G. RAILROAD, DID THE TERMS THEREIN CONSTITUTE TERMS OF CONVEYANCE WHEREBY FEE TITLE TO THE LAND IN QUESTION WAS CONVEYED, OR, DID THE TERMS MERELY CONVEY A RIGHT-OF-WAY THAT WAS SUBJECT TO ABANDONMENT, WAS ABANDONED, AND THUS NOTHING WAS EVER CONVEYED FROM THE RAILROAD TO ITS GRANTEE AND SUBSEQUENTLY TO APPELLANT DRAZICH?

Standards for Review:

(1) A trial court's conclusions of law in civil cases are reviewed for correctness and therefore no deference is given to the trial court's ruling on questions of law. State v. Pena, 869 P2d 932 (Utah 1994); United Park City Mines Co. v. Greater Park City Co., 870 P2d 880 (Utah 1993).

(2) In reviewing issues of law the standard is an assessment for correctness. State v. Rio Vista Oil, Ltd., 786 P2d 1342 (Utah 1990).

ISSUE TWO

WERE THERE VALID AND EFFECTIVE CONVEYANCES THAT ESTABLISHED A CHAIN OF TITLE TO DRAZICH THAT WOULD PRECLUDE PROTECTION FOR LASSON UNDER THE MARKETABLE TITLE ACT?

Standards for Review:

See standards for issue number one above.

ISSUE THREE

DOES THE MARKETABLE TITLE ACT PROVIDE PROTECTION TO A PARTY FROM CLAIMS EXISTING IN A PARALLEL CHAIN OF TITLE?

Standards for Review:

(1) See standards for issue number one above.

(2) In reviewing the trial court's findings, the clearly

erroneous standard is applied. Bell v. Elder, 782 P2d 545 (Ut. App. 1989)

(3) A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is without adequate evidentiary foundation or if it is induced by an erroneous view of the law. Cove View Excavating & Const. v. Flynn, 758 P2d 474 (Utah 1988).

(4) On appeal the appellate court must review facts in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. Lamkin v. Lynch, 600 P2d 530 (Utah 1979).

PLEASE NOTE: In the argument all issues pertaining to the Marketable Title Act are argued under Point IV jointly for the sake of brevity and clarity.

ISSUE FOUR

DID THE APPELLEE LASSON ACQUIRE TITLE TO THE DISPUTED TRACT BY ADVERSE POSSESSION?

Standards for Review:

See standards set forth above.

ISSUE FIVE

DID THE APPELLEE LASSON ACQUIRE TITLE TO THE DISPUTED TRACT BY VIRTUE OF THE DOCTRINE OF BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE?

Standards for Review:

See standards set forth above.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES:

MARKETABLE TITLE ACT STATUTES

57-9-1 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"What constitutes marketable record title."

57-9-2 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Rights and interests to which marketable

record title is subject."

57-9-3 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Marketable record title held free and clear of interests, claims and charges."

ADVERSE POSSESSION STATUTES

78-12-7 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Adverse possession - Possession presumed in owner."

78-12-8 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Under written instrument or judgment."

78-12-9 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"What constitutes adverse possession under written instrument."

78-12-10 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Under claim not founded on written instrument or judgment."

78-12-11 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"What constitutes adverse possession not under written instrument."

78-12-12 Utah Code Annotated SEE ADDENDUM

"Possession must be continuous, and taxes paid."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE:

This action involves a dispute over ownership of a parcel of land approximately 78 feet in length and of varying width of approximately 11 feet to 22 feet. The area in dispute forms a portion of the north boundary of the Drazich lands and the south boundary of the Lasson land. The legal descriptions in their current deeds of conveyance overlap.

The record title to the area in dispute was originally acquired by the Denver & Rio Grande Western Railroad Company as part of its rail system in Salt Lake County, over which a spur

track was maintained for many years.

On September 3, 1958, the railroad conveyed fee title to the disputed area to Building Supply Center, and by mesne deeds of record, title thereto has devolved to Drazich. Lasson does not claim or assert any conveyance from the railroad as a basis for his title but relies upon mesne deeds which by survey and description appear to overlap the lands conveyed to Drazich.

Issues exist over the nature of a fence line and its effect upon the title, the uses made of the land by the parties, acquiescence to boundary, the nature of the interest conveyed initially to the railroad, methods of description in the various deeds, and other related issues.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS:

The case was tried without a jury before the honorable William Bohling in the Third District Court for Salt Lake County, in September of 1996.

C. DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT:

The respective parties submitted proposed findings and conclusions and the court took the matter under advisement. The court ruled that Lasson had acquired title to the subject property and the findings and conclusions of the defendant Lasson were adopted by the court. A Judgment and Order, dated January 3, 1997, was signed and entered by the court. No post-judgment motions were made. The judgment by the court is a final judgment for purposes of this case and this appeal.

The defendants by the name of White were dismissed earlier in

the proceedings by stipulation between the parties. They are not parties to this appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The parties Drazich and Lasson own pieces of property that are contiguous to each other in Salt Lake County in the vicinity of 4500 South and 300 West. (T. 15; Ex. 4-P)

2. In order to more clearly demonstrate the chains of title for both Drazich and Lasson, the documents comprising the Drazich chain of title are collectively compiled in chronological order in Exhibit 15-P, and those comprising the Lasson chain are collectively compiled in Exhibit 16-P, both of which exhibits were received by the court. Those chains of title are outlined as follows:

DRAZICH CHAIN:

3. Under a homestead certificate of 1875 the United States conveyed real property that includes the disputed tract to James Bell. It conveyed a portion of a quarter section.

4. By indenture Bell conveyed to Helm in 1877.

5. By indenture Helm conveyed to the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad in 1882.

6. By special warranty deed the Denver & Rio Grande conveyed the property to Building Supply Center.

7. Building Supply then conveyed by deed to Ewell & Son; they by deed to Ute-Liner; they by deed to D.C. Johnson; he by deed to Michie Associations; they by deed to Homco; they by deed to First Security Bank; they by deed to Daw.

8. Daw then conveyed by Warranty Deed to Drazich in 1993.

END OF DRAZICH CHAIN

LASSON CHAIN:

9. Jenkins conveyed by warranty deed to Dahlquist in 1931.

10. Dahlquist by warranty deed in 1940 to Anderson.

11. Anderson by warranty deed to Eastman in 1948.

12. S. Eastman to G. Eastman by warranty deed in 1950.

13. G. Eastman to S. Eastman in 1951 by warranty deed.

14. S. Eastman to S. Eastman, et al. by quit claim deed in 1993.

15. S. Eastman, et al to Alan Lasson in 1993 by warranty deed.

END OF LASSON CHAIN

16. In the Lasson chain, until 1950 in the conveyance from Stanley Eastman to Glen Eastman, all of the descriptions of the south boundary of what is now the Lasson tract designated the south boundary as being one rod from the center of the track.

(Ex. 16-P)

17. There was testimony by Arlen Taylor, a witness for Lasson, that the descriptions in the deeds prior to 1950 were using metes and bounds and not calling to the center line of the railroad. (T. 157-158) However, all deeds in the Lasson chain (Ex. 16-P) do tie to the railroad center line until you get to the Stanley Eastman-Glen Eastman deed of 1950 when it is dropped. (Ex. 8-P)

18. The witness Taylor also testified that the current description of the Lasson property is "fairly similar" to that described in the earlier deeds. (T. 156)

19. In 1950, Stanley Eastman, et ux, conveyed by warranty deed to Glen Eastman, but all reference to the railroad disappears and for reasons that are unknown metes and bounds using measurements in chains is substituted. (Ex. 8-P; T. 47) At this point the tie-in to the center line of the railroad is eliminated.

20. These conflicting legal descriptions create an overlap parcel approximately 78 feet long and varying in width from 11 to 22 feet.

21. This overlap occurred of record with the 1958 Special Warranty Deed from the railroad to Building Supply Center. (Ex. 2-P)

22. In 1910 the railroad prepared a map of their spur line, which included the subject property. (Ex. 5-P; T. 36)

23. The area colored in yellow on the exhibit depicts the land in the legal description included in the 1958 Special Warranty Deed from the railroad to Building Supply Center. (T. 37)

24. Abraham Helm, by his indenture dated August 29, 1882, (Ex. 15-P) conveyed to the Denver and Rio Grand Railway Company fee title to a strip of land which extended from the main line of the railroad company's railroad tracks, in a northeasterly direction, over and across the lands owned by Helm. The description contained in the indenture describes the land to which the interest related as being a corridor two rods in width, lying 16 1/2 feet on either side of the center line of an existing railroad track, which area includes the area in dispute in the instant case. (R. 233)

25. The railroad tracks lying within the corridor were removed

in approximately 1904, but no precise legal description of the location of the tracks was recorded. (R. 233) The court's finding number 7 that there was confusion at some time in the past as to the location of the tracks seems true only to a degree. There was only one witness for Lasson who thought the track location had shifted. (T. Sept. 27 Trans. p. 18) No other witness for either side came to this conclusion. This witness for Lasson did not say where or how the track position changed.

26. Arlen Taylor also testified that the deed from the railroad to Building Supply covers the area in dispute, that it is described in that deed by a metes and bounds description, and that there is a conflict between the Lasson deed and the Drazich deed. (T. 170)

27. By stipulation the parties agreed that title to the disputed parcel was vested in Drazich, although Lasson did not agree that such a vesting was fee title. (T. 81-83)

28. Arlen Taylor acknowledged that he had heard the stipulation whereby it was agreed that record title was in the plaintiff and that he did not dispute that fact based upon the evidence he had examined. (T. 170)

29. In 1905 the subject property was apparently dropped from the tax rolls (T. 153), and was not taxed by the county again until 1959. (T. 153; R. 3)

30. The railroad began deeding out portions of the whole rail corridor as early as 1926. (T. 157; R. 3)

31. At the time the deed was given from Helm to the railroad

the spur line had already been built, (T. 30), but the railroad then said it needed a right-of-way 16.5 feet on each side of the track from the center line of the track. (T.30-31) This was conveyed. (T. 31)

32. In 1958 the railroad employed Coon and King Engineers to determine the legal description of the property the railroad intended to convey to Building Supply. (T. 33) They performed the survey, physically staked the property, and formulated a legal description that was used in the deed from the railroad to Building Supply. (T. 33)

33. In 1993 the witness Jack DeMass performed a survey of the same land and his description, findings and configuration of the property were exactly the same as those produced from the Coon and King survey of 1958. (T. 33-34)

34. In researching the location of the D.& R. G. corridor and the track, Mr. DeMass researched the railroad and County Recorder records. In that investigation he located a map prepared in 1910 with an affidavit attached to it.(T. 35-37) This is Exhibit 5-P. The affidavit was prepared by a Mr. A. Blake, who was the Division Engineer for the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad Company. (T. 40) However, the affidavit had been prepared in 1904. (T. 41)

35. In part, the affidavit states that Mr. Blake is ". . . familiar with the position and location of the tracks of the Rio Grande and Western Railway. . . ", and that he had " . . . been familiar with the location of said tracks for several years prior to said date", said date being 1904. (Ex. 5-P)

36. Among the railroad records pertaining to the sale of the property to Building Supply was found a set of five sheets of paper, the first being a copy of the 1958 deed to Building Supply, but the last and fifth sheet being a copy of a map, dated June 11, 1958. (Ex. 6-P; T. 43)

37. That map is different in certain respects from the 1910 map, but the lines conform with the Coon & King survey, and the map is likewise consistent with the findings of Mr. DeMass' prior findings. (T. 44)

38. Based upon the Coon & King survey, the railroad issued a Special Warranty Deed to Building Supply (Ex. 2-P), dated September 3, 1958. (R. 234) The legal description contained in the Special Warranty Deed incorporates the parcel of land which is in dispute in this case. (R. 234)

39. Ex. 6-P has a map which was apparently derived from the Coon & King survey. That map has a tie from the center line of 45th South to the northwest corner of the right-of-way. This is significant because it is an actual location of where the railroad right-of-way was located. (T. 71) The findings of fact (R. 234) state that there was no accurate information from Coon & King survey as to the location of the rail corridor, but it was undisputed that Ex. 6-P's map was derived from Coon & King's survey, and Mr. DeMass testified that established ". . . where the actual location, at least according to the railroad, of where their right-of-way was. That's not something to scale, that's a definitive." (T. 71)

40. Mr. DeMass further testified: "There is a specific tie over. Whoever prepared this railroad map tied the center line of 45th South Street and the corner of this purported railroad property with a bearing and a distance. And that's exact. That can't be off."

41. Ex. 13-P is a survey done by a Mr. Page for Mr. Lasson, the defendant. That survey does not show a fence line along the southern boundary, but it dos show the overlap or disputed tract. (T. 74)

42. However, the Page survey is faulty because his distances and calls are different from those in the Lasson deed (T. 75); and in keeping with what Mr. DeMass concluded in his research, both DeMass and Page found that the Lasson deed did not close, so he [Page] apparently ". . . chose to force a closure" (T. 75-76)

43. Exhibit 4-P is the DeMass survey. That survey noted the existence of fence lines on the properties adjoining properties (T. 65), but DeMass found no evidence of a fence line running along the back of the Green property, which is now the Lasson property. (T. 17-18)

44. The Coon & King survey (Ex. 12-D) uses fence line symbols to show a fence line running south of what became the White, Green (now Lasson) and United Homes properties. (T. 65) The only evidence that Lasson found of a fence line in the area of the disputed tract was a strip of barbed wire and some burnt wood remnants among other debris that he thought looked as if they could

have been used at one point in time as fence posts. (T. Sept. 27 Trans. pp. 52, 63)

45. If a fence had existed at some location on the disputed property, there was absolutely no evidence as to who erected it, when, how long it existed, or why it was erected. Lasson's grantor was the only witness to testify that there had been some type of old, decrepit fence in the bushes, but again, he was the only witness, and his knowledge and description of the "fence" were very sketchy at best. (T. 138)

46. Based upon the Coon & King survey the railroad issued a Special Warranty Deed to Building Supply Center in 1958 (Ex. 2-P). The legal description used in the deed was the one derived from the Coon & King survey. (R. 234)

47. This Special Warranty Deed contained an exception which reads "Subject, however, to all outstanding rights for any and all pipe lines, fences, roads, ditches, pole and wire lines and all other utility lines now existing upon, under, along, over or across said described premises." (Ex. 2-P)

48. The court found that there was no "clear evidence" that the Coon & King survey accurately reflected the historic location of the railroad tracts or the corridor through which they travelled. (R. 234) However there was considerable evidence by several witnesses that indicated that a high reliability existed of the survey being accurate as to the location of the railroad tracks and the corridor. (T. 71-72; T. 96, 98)

49. The Findings of Fact found that Lasson and his

predecessors in interest have used and occupied the disputed parcel since at least 1950. (R. 235) However, the evidence in fact indicated that the area was used as a dump yard by unknown persons, and that the area was covered with trash, weeds and other types of debris. (T. 18) Even Mr. Lasson testified that the property was covered with weeds, old out-buildings, "random debris", metal auto parts, old trees, garden-oriented type equipment, etc. (T Sept 27 Trans. pp. 51,58,63), and that the only use Lasson made of the property was to clear some of the weeds and junk from the property in 1994. (T Sept 27 Trans. 63) This very limited use by Lasson is also evidenced by some of his photographs. (Ex. 28-D, 29-D, 30-D)

50. There is some evidence from Mr. Lasson that the reason he began to construct a fence and clear the property was that shortly after he purchased the land he became aware that Mr. Drazich laid claim to the disputed tract of property. (T. Sept. 27 Trans. p. 72)

51. Mr. Lasson testified that he has paid taxes on the property deeded to him since the date of his conveyance. (T. Sept. 27 Trans. p. 68)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I:

THE WORDS OF CONVEYANCE FROM HELM TO THE RAILROAD IN 1882 DID NOT CONVEY A MERE RIGHT-OF-WAY BUT RATHER, CONVEYED FEE SIMPLE TITLE.

The district court concluded that the words used in the conveyance from Helm to the railroad conveyed merely a right-of-way that was subject to abandonment and was in fact thereafter abandoned by the railroad. (R. 235-236)

However, the words used in the indenture clearly convey fee title to the railroad, and not a right-of-way.

POINT II:

THE DEFENDANT LASSON DID NOT ACQUIRE TITLE TO THE DISPUTED PARCEL BY ADVERSE POSSESSION.

While the conclusions of law do not specifically address this issue, the comments of the court during the trial and the findings of fact indicate that the court relied upon adverse possession in determining that Lasson had acquired title to the property by that means. However, the fundamental requirements of acquiring title by adverse possession have not been met by Lasson or his predecessors in interest.

POINT III:

THE DEFENDANT LASSON DID NOT ACQUIRE TITLE TO THE DISPUTED TRACT OF LAND BASED UPON THE DOCTRINE OF BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE.

As with the adverse possession claim, no specific conclusion of law refers to this theory, but title is awarded based upon this legal concept considering again the findings made by the court and the comments of the court at trial. The appellate courts have established four fundamental requirements to establish boundary by acquiescence and the defendant Lasson has failed to meet any those requirements.

THE DEFENDANT LASSON UNDER TERMS AND REQUIREMENTS
OF THE MARKETABLE TITLE ACT, NOR DOES THE MARKETABLE TITLE
APPLY TO THIS FACTUAL SCENARIO.

Mr. Lasson asserts that the Marketable Title Act deprives Mr. Drazich of title to the disputed tract, and quiets title to the property in him. However, this is a misapplication and misinterpretation of the Marketable Title Act. It does not work to aid in quieting title in Lasson, nor does it apply to the factual scenario of this case.

Furthermore, the Marketable Title Act does not protect a party from claims in a parallel chain of title. Thus, the Marketable Title Act cannot provide Lasson clear title to the property against the claims of Drazich.

ARGUMENT

POINT I:

THE WORDS OF CONVEYANCE USED IN THE INDENTURE FROM HELM
TO THE RAILROAD DID NOT CONVEY A MERE RIGHT-OF-WAY SUBJECT
TO ABANDONMENT, BUT RATHER, CONVEYED FEE SIMPLE TITLE.

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