1997

Louise A. Drazich v. Alan Lasson, Mary D. White, and Darrell L. White : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I:

APPELATE REVIEW OF CIVIL ACTIONS SHOULD BE LIMITED
TO QUESTIONS OF LAW AND NOT OF FACT, AND THE PLAINTIFF
(APPELLANTS DRAZICH) HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN
QUIET TITLE ACTIONS

During the course of the trial both sides presented evidence and testimony in support of their respective positions, with the plaintiff, Drazich, being required to shoulder the burden of proof. By law, the District Court is the trier of fact and great deference should be given by this Court to the factual determinations made by the District Court. Based upon the facts presented and adopted by the District Court, the conclusions of law issued by the District Court are well founded and should be upheld.

POINT II:

AN INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY CONVEYED TO A RAILROAD
FOR RAILROAD PURPOSES, WHICH DOES NOT IDENTIFY THE
LAND TO BE USED, MUST BE DEEMED AN EASEMENT, SUBJECT
TO ABANDONMENT, AND NOT A FEE SIMPLE INTEREST.

Regardless of the language contained in an instrument purporting to convey an interest in real property, if the instrument fails to adequately describe the property which it purports to convey, and the nature of the use to which the property is put is consistent with a right-of-way or easement, the conveyance will be deemed as a matter of law a conveyance of a right-of-way or easement, subject to abandonment. The actions and inactions of the Railroad demonstrate that it viewed the conveyance as that of a right-of-way or easement and that it intended to and in fact

did abandon its property interest prior to 1958. Once the interest is abandoned, it cannot be revived.

POINT III:

A “STRAY” OR “WILD” DEED WHICH DOES NOT CONVEY AN EXISTING AND VALID INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY CANNOT HAVE THE EFFECT OF ELIMINATING THE PROTECTIONS OF THE UTAH *MARKETABLE RECORD TITLE ACT*.

The *Marketable Record Title Act* is clear that the protections afforded thereunder are not affected by a “stray” or “wild” deed which does not convey an existing and valid interest, such as the 1958 deed to Building Supply Center. Similarly, the protections of the *Marketable Record Title Act* are not adversely affected by a deed which, by its terms, recognizes the superior title interests of others.

POINT IV:

THE ISSUES OF ADVERSE POSSESSION AND BOUNDARY BY ACQUIESCENCE ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THIS COURT.

The District Court’s ruling in favor of Lasson was based solely upon issues relating directly to Lasson’s *Marketable Record Title Act* protections. The issues of adverse possession and boundary by acquiescence were and are immaterial to the District Court’s findings and judgment and this appeal. Drazich’s attempts to argue these points clouds the issue before this Court and is in direct violation of Rule 24 (j) of the Utah *Rules of Appellate Procedure*.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLATE REVIEW OF CIVIL ACTIONS SHOULD BE LIMITED TO QUESTIONS OF LAW AND NOT OF FACT, AND THE PLAINTIFF (APPELLANTS DRAZICH) HAS THE BURDEN OF PROOF IN QUIET TITLE ACTIONS.

It is clear in Utah as in most jurisdictions that the scope of appellate review of civil actions is focused on the law applied by the trial court and not on the credible facts upon which the trial court makes its decision. See Zions First National Bank v. First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., 534 P.2d 900, 902 (Utah 1975); Olsen v. Park Daughters Investment Co., 511 P.2d 145,146 (Utah 1973). Only under the circumstances where the facts relied upon by the trial court are “clearly erroneous” will the appellate court review those facts. In the case of Butler, Crockett and Walsh Development Corp, supra., at 228, Justice Zimmerman, speaking for the Utah Supreme Court stated:

We begin by noting the standard of review in this almost exclusively factual case. We reverse a trial court’s findings of fact only if they are ‘against the clear weight of the evidence,’ *In re Estate of Bartell*, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (quoting *State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987)). In making such a determination, we consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court’s finding, and we recite the facts in accordance with that standard. *Van Dyke v. Chappel*, 818 P.2d 1023, 1024 (Utah 1991).

As will be discussed hereafter, the facts (or lack thereof) presented at trial by Drazich mandated the decision made by the District Court in favor of Lasson.

In bringing this quiet title action, Drazich had the burden of proving that its chain of title was superior to that of Lasson, and it utterly failed to do so. (See Olsen, supra., at 146, and Colman v. Butkovich, 538 P.2d 188 (Utah 1975)). In order to demonstrate superior chain of title, Drazich had to prove at trial (1) that the conveyance to the Railroad was a conveyance of a valid and continuing fee simple interest in the Subject Property and (2) that the 1958 deed from

the Railroad to Building Supply Center conveyed a valid interest in the Subject Property. As will be discussed below, Drazich presented no credible evidence demonstrating that the 1882 Indenture to the Railroad contained a legal description of the property purportedly conveyed to the Railroad sufficient to meet the requirements of a fee simple conveyance. Further, as will be discussed below, Drazich presented no evidence refuting Lasson's evidence that the Railroad abandoned whatever interests it may have had in the Subject property by, at the latest, 1926. Drazich also failed to provide evidence that the exceptions and conditions shown on the 1958 Coon and King survey and described in the 1958 deed from the Railroad to Building Supply Center did not exempt out the Subject Property.

In short, Drazich failed to prove to the satisfaction of the trier of fact that any valid or continuing interest in the Subject Property was conveyed to it or its predecessors in interest. Without such proof, the 1958 deed, upon which Drazich relies for its root of title (which has an age less than the forty (40) years required under the Utah *Marketable Record Title Act*), is totally without legal effect under the plain language of the Utah *Marketable Record Title Act* and Utah property law generally. (See Section 57-9-1, Utah Code Annotated; Olsen, *supra.*, at 147-148).

The District Court found that Drazich did not meet its burden of proof based on the facts (or lack thereof) presented at trial, and this determination by the District Court should be upheld in accordance with the standards of review long established by this Court and the Utah Supreme Court.

II.

AN INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY CONVEYED TO A RAILROAD FOR RAILROAD PURPOSES, WHICH DOES NOT IDENTIFY THE LAND TO BE USED, MUST BE DEEMED AN EASEMENT, SUBJECT TO ABANDONMENT, AND NOT A FEE SIMPLE INTEREST.

In its Brief, Drazich argues that the fact that the 1882 Indenture in favor of the Railroad contained “grant, bargain and sale” and “fee” language should be determinative of the issue of whether the conveyance is one of a fee simple interest in property or merely an easement, subject to abandonment. In support of this position, Drazich refers the Court to rather ancient case law, none of which is directly applicable to the case at bar.

In each of the cases cited by Drazich, the courts had the benefit of an instrument that not only contained “grant, bargain and sale” language but also had an understandable and locatable legal description of the property being conveyed. By contrast, in this case the Court is dealing with an Indenture that does not contain a precise or locatable legal description of the Railroad property. Drazich’s expert title witness, Gary Carlson (“Carlson”) testified at trial that the legal description contained in the Indenture was “very ambiguous.” (T1 at 93). Drazich’s expert witness, Jack L. DeMass (“DeMass”) testified at trial that neither the 1882 Indenture nor the 1910 Railroad Affidavit (the “Affidavit”) (Ex P-5) contained a legal description or drawing that could be physically tied to any point on the ground. (T1 at 66-69). Similarly, Lasson’s expert witness, M. Carl Larsen (“Larsen”), testified at trial that based upon his review of and extensive research concerning the Indenture and the Affidavit, no location of the spur line could or can be determined. (T2 at 15-22). No credible evidence was presented at trial that even the Railroad or its surveyor knew where the spur line was actually located. No one was called at trial to testify on behalf of Coon and King, the Railroad’s surveyor, as to how its survey was prepared. In fact, DeMass, Drazich’s expert surveyor witness, testified that he could not determine from his review

of the Coon and King Survey what data, if any, Coon and King used to attempt to relocate the Railroad spur in 1958. (T1 at 66-69).

In a remarkably similar case in the State of Washington, in which a county was attempting to claim ownership of property which had been originally described in an ancient deed as being "...20 feet on each side of line of said road as surveyed..." the Washington Court of Appeals ruled that the legal description of the property contained in the deed was insufficient because there was no reference in the deed to a specific survey and because there was evidence presented at trial that a surveyor could not precisely locate the property given the description contained in the deed. In making this ruling, the Appeals Court stated:

Deeds must contain an adequate legal description of the real property to be conveyed (Citations omitted). An inadequate legal description is a violation of the statute of frauds (Citations omitted). No reference was made to a specific survey and there was evidence a surveyor could not locate the property, given the description contained in the deed. The cases cited by the County are not dispositive as they hold specific reference to the second document must be made within the deed.

Sparks v. Douglas County, 695 P.2d 588, 589 (Wash. App. 1985).

Other modern case law holds that an instrument purporting to create an interest in real property which fails to provide an adequate legal description of the property which it purports to convey is either (a) invalid on its face (see Colman, supra, at 189), or (b) conveys an easement rather than a full possessory interest. (See Fetzer v. Cities Service Oil Co., 572 Fed.2d 1250 (8th Cir. 1978) (lack of clarity in land description may indicate the conveyance of an easement rather than a full possessory interest); Hutson et al. v. The Agricultural Ditch and Reservoir Co., 723 P.2d 736 (Colo. 1986) (a document purporting to convey a fee interest must at least provide a means of identifying the property conveyed); Sherman et al. v. Petroleum Exploration et al., 132

SW.2d 768, 770 (Ky. 1939) (imprecise description creates an easement only, even though warranty language is used in the conveying instrument)).

Clearly, neither the Indenture itself nor the Affidavit provides the clarity necessary to create a fee simple interest in the Railroad. In Colman, *supra*, at 189, the Utah Supreme Court held that “[u]nder no circumstances can [an] affidavit initiate title.... It is neither a conveyance nor a transfer of marketable title in any sense of the word—statutory or otherwise.”

By the admission of Drazich’s own expert surveyor witness, the actual location of the spur line cannot at this date be determined (T1 at 66-69), and there was no credible evidence presented at trial demonstrating that the Coon and King Survey upon which Drazich’s alleged root of title is based was in fact correct. (T1 at 66-69). By contrast, there was significant testimony and evidence given at trial by Lasson’s expert surveyor witness, Larsen, to the effect that it is more likely than not that the spur track was moved to a position south of its original line sometime before the track was removed in 1904. (T2 at 21). This is a key element in this Case since the location of the Railroad’s property interest under the original Indenture was tied directly to the centerline of the tracks. (Ex 7-P). The possible, and according to Larsen probable, relocation of the tracks prior to 1904 makes the “legal description” found in the 1882 Indenture even more ambiguous and confusing. Drazich introduced no evidence or testimony at trial refuting (or even responding to) this important point.

Based upon the foregoing, it is clear that the trial court was justified in determining that the location of the Railroad spur cannot be accurately or adequately determined. Without such location, the law requires that the Indenture be interpreted as either being void on its face, or at the most as creating an easement, subject to abandonment, but certainly not a fee simple interest. (See Colman, *supra*.; Fetzer, *supra*.; Hutson, *supra*.; and Sherman, *supra*).

Equally as troubling to Drazich's case at trial were the uncontested facts surrounding the Railroad's own statements and actions relative to the property interest conveyed in the Indenture. The Affidavit (Ex 5-P) refers to the interest conveyed to the Railroad as a "right-of-way" (not fee simple) and indicates (a) that the track was removed in 1904 and (b) that the right-of-way had not been abandoned as of 1910. Why would the Railroad have been so concerned about the possibility of abandonment if in fact it thought it owned a fee simple interest? Further uncontested evidence of abandonment was introduced at trial to the effect that the Railroad ceased paying taxes on the right-of-way in 1904 (Ex 22-D and 23-D; T1 at 154) and began quit claiming its interest in the spur line property as early as 1926 (Ex 21-D; T1 at 150), thus making continued use of the property by the Railroad impossible. The Railroad's own records, memoranda, and correspondence surrounding the 1958 Coon and King Survey and the 1958 deed to Building Supply Center indicate that the Railroad was not sure what it owned (if anything) (Ex 18-D) and therefore was not willing to warrant any property within existing fence lines to Building Supply Center, Drazich's predecessor in interest. (Ex 2-P).

The District Court properly took all of these factors into account in determining that the interest conveyed to the Railroad was in fact an easement, subject to abandonment, and that the Railroad had in fact abandoned the easement prior to 1958. (R at 235-236).

III.

A "STRAY" OR "WILD" DEED WHICH DOES NOT CONVEY AN
EXISTING AND VALID INTEREST IN REAL PROPERTY
CANNOT HAVE THE EFFECT OF ELIMINATING THE PROTECTIONS
OF THE UTAH *MARKETABLE RECORD TITLE ACT*.

It was uncontested at trial that Lasson has an unbroken chain of title to his property which has existed in excess of forty (40) years, thus making him eligible for protection under the Utah

Marketable Record Title Act. (Section 57-9-1 *et seq.* Utah Code Annotated (the “Act”)). Section 57-9-2 of the Act sets forth certain exceptions to the effectiveness of the Act in protecting property rights. The only exception at issue in this case appears in Section 57-9-2(4) of the Act which reads as follows:

[The marketable record title is subject to] any interest out of a title transaction which has been recorded subsequent to the effective date of the root of title from which the unbroken chain of title of record is started, except that the recording does not revive or give validity to any interest which has been extinguished prior to the time of the recording by the operation of Section 57-9-3. . . . (Emphasis added).

As discussed in Section II above, no credible evidence was introduced at trial locating with any precision the property in which the Railroad claimed an interest. Uncontested evidence presented at trial clearly showed action and inaction on the part of the Railroad demonstrating an abandonment of any interest which it might have once claimed. Based on these two factors alone, the District Court was justified in determining that “[n]o ‘title transaction,’ as that term is used in Section 57-9-2(4)...occurred so as to break Defendant’s (Lasson’s) chain of title...” (R at 236).

An additional basis for the District Court’s ruling is found in the facts and circumstances surrounding the preparation of the 1958 deed to Building Supply Center (in which Drazich claims his root of title to the Subject Property) and the language of the deed itself. As previously discussed, inter-company letters and memoranda executed and delivered by the Railroad prior to issuance of the 1958 deed indicated that the Railroad was unsure of the exact location of the right-of-way (Ex 18-D; T1 at 104,106) and was concerned about the effect of a fence line shown on a map prepared by the Railroad prior to the preparation of the Coon and King Survey (Ex 18-D; T1 at 107-110).

Prior to issuance of the 1958 deed and as a result of inter-company directions regarding the sale to Building Supply Center, the Railroad retained the services of Coon and King to provide what has been described as a “certified survey.” (T1 at 105; Ex 12-P). Both of the expert surveyor witnesses, DeMass and Larsen, testified that they could not verify the accuracy of the Coon and King Survey as to the exact location of the Railroad’s spur line (T1 at 66-67; T2 at 48-49). Nevertheless, the unverified survey, when completed, showed a fence line running along the south boundary of the existing Lasson and White properties. (T2 at 25-26; Ex 12-P).

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